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DeCor/a & Company PC 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

Report of Independent Auditor 

Board of Trustees 
Fremont County School District No. 6 
Pavillion, Wyoming 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Fremont County School District 
No. 6 ("the District") as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the District's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit, We conducted our 
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General 
of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of Fremont County School District No. 6, as of June 30, 2018, and the respective 
changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Ph: 307.885.4272 I Fax: 800.351.5062 I 431 South Washington, Suite 8 I P.O. Box 460 I Afton, WY 83110 



Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the budgetary comparison 
schedules on pages 41 and 42, and the schedules of employer's share of the net pension liability and employer 
contributions on pages 44 and 45, respectively, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the GASB, which considers it 
to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide 
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Fremont County School District No. 6's financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2017 were 
audited by other auditors, whose report dated October 10, 2017, expressed an unmodified opinion on those 
financial statements. 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the District's basic financial statements. The combining nonmajor fund financial statements are 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The combining nonmajor fund financial statements are the responsibility of management and were derived from 
and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to 
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining nonmajor fund financial statements are fairly 
stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 15, 2018, 
on our consideration of the District's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of 
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the District's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

DeCoria & Company, PC 
Afton, Wyoming 

November 15, 2018 
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
As management of the Fremont County School District No. 6 (the “District”), we offer readers of the 
District’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the District 
for the year ended June 30, 2018. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in 
conjunction with the District’s financial statements, notes to the financial statements, and other 
supplementary information, which follow this section. 
 

Financial Highlights 
 

The District’s total combined net position was $16,728,954 at June 30, 2018, which compares to 
$17,556,690 at the beginning of the fiscal year, a decrease of $827,736 (4.7%) related to the District’s 
current operations. Management attributes this decrease due to depreciation exceeding capital outlays, the 
District’s net pension liability through the state’s Wyoming Retirement System, and capital projects 
completed and started in Fiscal Year 2018 (FY18). 
 

The District’s revenue generated in taxes and other revenues for governmental and business-type 
activities were $9,865,608. For the District’s governmental and business-type activities, total expenses 
were $10,693,344. Expenses exceeded revenues as the District began a three-year transition plan in Fiscal 
Year 2017 (FY17) to account for a potential decline in the state K-12 education funding model. Fremont 
County School District No. 6 will utilize healthy reserves to bridge the funding gaps if needed and finance 
capital construction projects. 
 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the District’s basic financial 
statements. The District’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 
 

 1) Government-wide financial statements;  
 2) Fund financial statements; and 
 3) Notes to the financial statements.  
 

This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements 
themselves. 
 

Government-wide financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are designed to provide 
readers with a broad overview of the District’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 
 

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the District’s assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources with the difference between assets/deferred 
outflows of resources and liabilities/deferred inflows of resources reported as net position. Over time, 
increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of 
the District is improving or deteriorating. However, fluctuations from year to year need to be reviewed in 
light of the timing of funding, economic factors, state funding model, and capital expenditures.  
 

The Statement of Activities presents information for all of the current year’s revenues and expenses 
regardless of when cash is received or paid. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement 
for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods; i.e., uncollected taxes and 
earned -- but unused -- vacation and sick leave.  
 

Both of the District’s government-wide financial statements distinguish the functions of the District as 
being principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) as 
opposed to business-type activities that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs 
through user fees and charges. The District has three business-type activities: the Housing Fund, Food 
Service Fund, and Child Care Fund (new in FY18).  
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
Overview of the Financial Statements, Continued 
 

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The District, like other state and 
local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related 
requirements. The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the District’s most 
significant funds – not the District as a whole. All of the funds of the District can be divided into three 
categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported 
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-
wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on how money flows into and 
out of those funds and the balances left at year-end available for spending in the future periods. Such 
information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements. Governmental 
fund information helps determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in 
the near future to finance educational programs. The relationship (or differences) between governmental 
activities reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities and the governmental 
funds are reconciled in the financial statements. The general fund and major maintenance fund are 
considered major. The other governmental funds of the District, consisting of the Special Revenue Fund, 
Depreciation (asset replacement) Fund, Major Maintenance Fund, Capital Construction Fund, and Debt 
Service Fund, are presented as non-major governmental funds in the fund financial statements. 
 

Proprietary funds. Proprietary funds are used to account for services for which the District charges 
participants a fee. These funds, like the government-wide statements, provide both long- and short-term 
financial information. The Housing Fund (major), Food Service Fund (non-major), and the Child Care 
Fund (non-major) are in this category for the District, presented under business-type activities. 
 

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because 
the resources of those funds are not available to support the District’s own programs. The District is the 
trustee, or fiduciary, for these funds and is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in these funds 
are used for their intended purposes. All of the District’s fiduciary activities are reported in a separate 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position. The District has one fund in this category -- the Student Activities 
Funds. 
 

Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a complete 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 

Other information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also 
presents certain required supplementary information that further explains and supports the information in 
the financial statements. 
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
Financial Analysis of the District as a Whole 
 
The Statement of Net Position provides the perspective of the District as a whole. The following provides 
a summary of the District’s net position at June 30, 2018 and 2017: 
 

 
 
The net investment in capital assets is $19,640,744, which is the net book value of capital assets (e.g., 
land, buildings, equipment). The District uses these capital assets to provide services to students; 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. An additional portion of the District’s net 
position of $381,679 represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be 
used. The remaining balance of unrestricted (deficit) net position of $(3,293,469) may be used to meet the 
District’s ongoing obligations. The amount is negative largely due to the net pension liability of 
$5,865,942 which is the District’s proportionate share of the state retirement plan’s net pension liability. 
 
  

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 
Current and other assets 3,076,193    4,328,344   114,339    166,800    3,190,532     4,495,144     
Capital assets 19,299,932     18,570,509     340,812    351,335    19,640,744     18,921,844     

Total assets 22,376,125     22,898,853     455,151    518,135    22,831,276     23,416,988     

Pension related outflows 1,502,384    1,433,299   -    -     1,502,384     1,433,299     
Total deferred 
outflows of 
resources 1,502,384    1,433,299   -    -     1,502,384     1,433,299     

Other liabilities 422,186    547,899     12,972     6,249     435,158   554,148     
Long-term liabilities 6,007,186    6,571,755   -    -     6,007,186     6,571,755     

Total liabilities 6,429,372    7,119,654   12,972     6,249     6,442,344     7,125,903     

Net position:
Net investment in 
capital assets 19,299,932     18,036,459     340,812    351,375    19,640,744     18,387,834     
Restricted 381,679    771,582     -    -     381,679   771,582     
Unrestricted (3,394,836)    (1,763,278)    101,367    160,551    (3,293,469)    (1,602,727)    
Total net position 16,286,775     17,044,763     442,179    511,926    16,728,954     17,556,689     

Total DistrictBusiness-Type Activities Governmental Activities 

Condensed Statement of Net Position 
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
Financial Analysis of the District as a Whole, Continued 
 
The Statement of Activities provides perspective of the District’s operations as a whole. The following 
provides a summary of the District’s operations for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017: 

 
 
 
The District’s total net position decreased by $827,736 during the year ended June 30, 2018. The total 
cost of all governmental activities this year was $10,241,436 and of the business-type activities was 
$451,908. The amount paid by state sources in the General Fund (the District’s main operating fund), 
including the State Foundation Program, was $6,617,110 or 77% of General Fund revenues. 
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
Financial Analysis of the District’s Funds 
 

Governmental Funds: 
 

Revenues. General fund revenues increased from $8,497,306 in FY2017 to $8,631,303 in FY2018. There 
was an increase of $254,025 in funding from state sources, which was offset by a decrease of $191,950 
from local/county sources (including property taxes), and $84,557 from Federal sources. General fund 
revenues were budgeted to use $507,812 out of reserves to cover expenses and $781,021 to cover the 
capital project for the walkway between the two schools. The District’s anticipated use of reserves for 
FY2018 was expected to be $1,288,832 and ended up at $1,004,429. 

 
Expenditures. The total expenditures of the general fund were $9,491,158 in 2018 compared to 
$8,800,276 in 2017. The majority of the increase in expenditures was due to capital construction 
(permanent assets). General fund expenditures were $182,087 less than budget.  
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
Financial Analysis of the District’s Funds, Continued 
 
Proprietary Funds: 
 
The Housing Fund is operating at a loss before other uses of funds of $72,915 in FY2018 compared to a 
loss of $14,720 in FY2017. Losses are attributed to capital maintenance and start-up costs to the 
Middle/High School Media Center of $45,613 and the child care center of $7,920.   
 

The Food Service Fund is operating at a deficit due to a reduction in the number of lunches served during 
the year, combined with an increase in cost per meal served. In order to offset the increased expenses, it 
was necessary to transfer funds from the General Fund (main operating fund) to the Food Service Fund. 
 

A new fund was created in FY2018 for the child care services. This fund was close to breaking even for 
the first year through the support of foundations, donations, and start-up costs from the housing. 
 
Capital assets: 
 
The District’s total investment in capital assets as of June 30, 2018 amounts to $19,640,744 (net of 
accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, construction in progress, 
buildings and improvements, equipment and vehicles for both governmental and business-type activities. 

Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following projects: 
 Continued remodeling of the modular (to be completed in FY19) 
 Completed construction for the security walkway between the Wind River Middle/High 

School and the Elementary school as well as the child care and preschool classrooms 
 Started component project (via School Facilities Department) on the Wind River 

Middle/High School HVAC Project – Phase I 
 Continued Track and field improvements 
 Media Center and the middle/high school 

 
Additional information on the District’s capital assets can be found in Note 9 of this report. 

2018 2017
Land 109,259      109,259      
Construction in progress 126,710      348,480      
Buildings and improvements 18,113,734  16,976,169  
Equipment 99,184        100,452      
Vehicles 851,045      1,036,149   

19,299,932  18,570,509  

2018 2017
Construction in progress 6,344         6,344         
Buildings and improvements 333,954      344,261      
Equipment 514            770            

340,812      351,375      

District's Capital Assets -- Governmental Activities
(Net of Depreciation)

District's Capital Assets -- Business-Type Activities

(Net of Depreciation)
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
Financial Analysis of the District’s Funds, Continued 
 
Long-term debt. The District incurred additional long-term debt during FY2018 for accrued compensated 
absences and in the amount of $46,858. Accrued compensated absences and capital lease obligations were 
reduced by $65,184 and $242,646, respectively, during FY2018. The capital lease obligations are all for 
bus leases which are no longer allowed by the Wyoming Department of Education. Accrued compensated 
absences include unused sick leave and vacation for employees. Additional information on the District’s 
long-term debt can be found in Note 13 in the Notes to Financial Statements. 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget 
 
Fremont County School District #6 must continue to be cautious in all decisions affecting its financial 
position. Listed below are factors to consider each year as we implement our three-year plan to balance 
the budget: 
 

 The District’s Average Daily Membership (ADM) that determines funding from the state 
increased between FY17 and FY18 by 20.96 ADM. 

 The State of Wyoming’s legislators decreased portions of the entitlement guarantee by 
freezing portions of transportation and special education reimbursements. 

 
Factors affecting the District’s future. The continued uncertainty in Wyoming’s funding mechanism for 
K-12 public school districts combined with the District’s enrollment and its relationship to funding will 
play a major role in the amount of revenue received by the District. The Wyoming Block Grant Funding 
Model and supporting legislation guarantees K-12 public schools funding to a pre-calculated amount. The 
pre-calculated amount is guaranteed by the State of Wyoming, regardless of the amount of taxes are 
collected, so if taxes fall short to meet the guaranteed amount, the State of Wyoming makes up the 
shortfall from the School Foundation Account.  
 
Requests for information. This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, 
and creditors with a general overview of the District’s finances as well as demonstrate accountability for 
funds the District receives. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or 
requests for additional information should be addressed to the Business Manager at P.O. Box 10, 223 
North Cherry Street, Pavillion, Wyoming 82523. 
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Fremont County School District No. 6
Statement of Net Position - District-Wide
June 30, 2018

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) 1,065,063$      107,696$        1,172,759$      
Cash with fiscal agent 66,839            -                  66,839            
Investments (Note 7) 1,756,883       -                  1,756,883       
Receivables (Note 8) 168,515          57                   168,572          
Inventories 18,893            6,586              25,479            

          Total current assets  3,076,193       114,339          3,190,532       
Noncurrent assets:

Capital assets, net (Note 9) 19,299,932      340,812          19,640,744      

          Total assets  22,376,125      455,151          22,831,276      

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred outflows related to the net pension liability (Note 14) 1,502,384       -                  1,502,384       

Total deferred outflows of resources  1,502,384       -                  1,502,384       

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 30,707            2,750              33,457            
Accrued liabilities 162,834          10,222            173,056          
Accrued compensated absences, due within one year (Note 13) 59,649            -                  59,649            
Capital lease obligations, due within one year (Note 13) 168,996          -                  168,996          

          Total current liabilities  422,186          12,972            435,158          

Noncurrent liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences, due after one year (Note 13) 18,837            -                  18,837            
Capital lease obligations, due after one year (Note 13) 122,407          -                  122,407          
Net pension liability (Note 14) 5,865,942       -                  5,865,942       

          Total noncurrent liabilities  6,007,186       -                  6,007,186       

          Total liabilities  6,429,372       12,972            6,442,344       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows related to the net pension liability (Note 14) 1,162,362       -                  1,162,362       

Total deferred inflows of resources  1,162,362       -                  1,162,362       

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 16 through 18)

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 19,008,529      340,812          19,349,341      
Restricted for:

Major maintenance 314,840          -                  314,840          
Debt service 66,839            -                  66,839            

Unrestricted (3,103,433)      101,367          (3,002,066)      

               Total net position  16,286,775$    442,179$        16,728,954$    

Primary Government

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements. 10 



Fremont County School District No. 6
Statement of Activities - District-Wide
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Charges for Grants and Governmental Business-Type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Activities Activities Total

Governmental activities:
Instruction:

Regular instruction 3,521,112$    -$            242,847$        (3,278,265)$   (3,278,265)$    
Special instruction 1,343,243      -              163,718          (1,179,525)     (1,179,525)      
Vocational instruction 203,144         -              -                 (203,144)        (203,144)         

       Total instruction  5,067,499      -              406,565          (4,660,934)     (4,660,934)      

Support services:
Student services 675,097         -              -                 (675,097)        (675,097)         
Staff services 420,412         -              46,629           (373,783)        (373,783)         
Central administration 494,460         -              -                 (494,460)        (494,460)         
School administration 581,861         -              -                 (581,861)        (581,861)         
Business administration 279,116         -              -                 (279,116)        (279,116)         
General maintenance 2,088,746      -              362,993          (1,725,753)     (1,725,753)      
Transportation services 671,999         -              -                 (671,999)        (671,999)         
Capital outlay (848,956)        -              65,653           914,609         914,609          
Depreciation 811,202         -              -                 (811,202)        (811,202)         

        Total support services  5,173,937      -              475,275          (4,698,662)     (4,698,662)      

        Total governmental activities  10,241,436    -              881,840          (9,359,596)     (9,359,596)      

Business-type activities:
Housing fund 147,632         74,717        -                 (72,915)$    (72,915)          
Food services 281,763         67,043        127,538          (87,182)      (87,182)          
Day care fund 22,513           2,721          -                 (19,792)      (19,792)          

        Total business-type activities  451,908         144,481       127,538          (179,889)    (179,889)         

        Total school district  10,693,344$  144,481$     1,009,378$     (9,359,596)     (179,889)    (9,539,485)      

General revenues:
Property taxes 1,475,026      -             1,475,026       
Interest and investment earnings 9,769             141            9,910              
Other local sources 308,223         -             308,223          
Other county sources 64,951           -             64,951            
State sources 6,617,110      -             6,617,110       
Federal sources 236,529         -             236,529          
Interfund transfers, net (Note 11) (110,000)        110,000     -                 

     Total general revenues  8,601,608      110,141     8,711,749       

        Changes in net position  (757,988)        (69,748)      (827,736)         

Total net position, beginning of year 17,044,763    511,927     17,556,690     

  Total net position, end of year  16,286,775$  442,179$   16,728,954$   

Primary Government

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements. 11 



Fremont County School District No. 6
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018

 Major Nonmajor Total
General Maintenance Governmental Governmental

Fund Fund Funds Funds
ASSETS

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 809,537$       64,845$        190,681$       1,065,063$    
Cash with fiscal agent -                -                66,839          66,839          
Investments 1,514,196      242,687        -                1,756,883      
Receivables 105,990        -                62,525          168,515        
Inventories 18,893          -                -                18,893          
Due from other funds 49,539          8,921            1,341            59,801          

        Total assets  2,498,155$    316,453$       321,386$       3,135,994$    

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
  RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 26,686$        1,613$          2,408$          30,707$        
Accrued liabilities 150,999        -                11,835          162,834        
Due to other funds 1,341            -                58,460          59,801          

        Total liabilities  179,026        1,613            72,703          253,342        

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred property taxes 31,513          -                -                31,513          

        Total deferred inflows of resources  31,513          -                -                31,513          

Fund balances:
Nonspendable:

Inventories 18,893          -                -                18,893          
Restricted for:

Major maintenance -                314,840        -                314,840        
Debt service -                -                66,839          66,839          

Committed for:
Capital asset replacement -                -                58,698          58,698          
Grants -                -                123,146        123,146        

Unassigned 2,268,723      -                -                2,268,723      

        Total fund balances  2,287,616      314,840        248,683        2,851,139      

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of  
 resources and fund balances  2,498,155$    316,453$       321,386$       3,135,994$    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements. 12



Fremont County School District No. 6
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds with the
    Statement of Net Position - District-Wide 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position - District-Wide
   are different because:

Total fund balances - Governmental Funds 2,851,139$      

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
  and therefore are not reported as assets in governmental funds:

The cost of capital assets is 29,806,085$    
Accumulated depreciation is (10,506,153)    

19,299,932      

Property taxes receivable that be collected, but are not available
  soon enough to pay for current period liabilities, and are therefore
  reported as deferred property taxes in the governmental funds. 31,513            

Noncurrent liabilities, including accrued compensated absences, capital 
  lease obligations and the District's proportionate share of the net 
  pension liability are not due and payable in the current period and 
  therefore are not reported in the governmental funds:

Accrued compensated absences, due within one year (59,649)           
Capital lease obligations, due within one year (168,996)         
Accrued compensated absences, due after one year (18,837)           
Capital lease obligations, due after one year (122,407)         
Net pension liability (5,865,942)      

(6,235,831)      

Deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources pertaining to the
  net pension liability are not financial resources and therefore are not
  reported as assets or liabilities in the governmental funds:

Deferred outflows related to the net pension liability 1,502,384       
Deferred inflows related to the net pension liability (1,162,362)      

340,022          

Total net position - District-Wide 16,286,775$    

June 30, 2018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements. 13 



Fremont County School District No. 6
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances -

Governmental Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Major Nonmajor Total
General Maintenance Governmental Governmental

Fund Fund Funds Funds

Revenues:
Property taxes 1,463,013$   -$              -$              1,463,013$   
Other local sources 241,723        -                66,500          308,223        
Other county sources 64,951          -                -                64,951          
State sources 6,617,110     362,993        85,653          7,065,756     
Federal sources 236,529        -                433,194        669,723        
Interest and investment earnings 7,977            183               1,025            9,185            

    Total revenues  8,631,303     363,176        586,372        9,580,851     

Expenditures:
Instruction:

Regular instruction 3,105,573     -                242,847        3,348,420     
Special instruction 1,113,646     -                163,718        1,277,364     
Vocational instruction 193,181        -                -                193,181        

    Total instruction  4,412,400     -                406,565        4,818,965     

Support services:
Student services 641,987        -                -                641,987        
Staff services 328,612        -                71,181          399,793        
Central administration 470,209        -                -                470,209        
School administration 553,324        -                -                553,324        
Business administration 265,427        -                -                265,427        
General maintenance 835,736        1,150,568     -                1,986,304     
Transportation services 869,786        -                -                869,786        
Capital outlay -                608,441        83,229          691,670        

      Total support services  3,965,081     1,759,009     154,410        5,878,500     

       Total expenditures  8,377,481     1,759,009     560,975        10,697,465   

Excess (deficiency) of revenues   
 over (under) expenditures   253,822        (1,395,833)    25,397          (1,116,614)    

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers from (to) other funds, net (1,113,677)    1,004,429     (752)              (110,000)       
Realized and unrealized gain on investments -                584               -                584               

Total other financing sources (uses)  (1,113,677)    1,005,013     (752)              (109,416)       

    Net change in fund balances  (859,855)       (390,820)       24,645          (1,226,030)    

Total fund balances, beginning of year 3,147,471     705,660        224,038        4,077,169     

Total fund balances, end of year  2,287,616$   314,840$      248,683$      2,851,139$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements. 14 



Fremont County School District No. 6
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances -
    Governmental Funds with the Statement of Activities - District-Wide
June 30, 2018

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities - District-Wide
    are different because:

Net change in fund balances - Governmental Funds (1,226,030)$       

Capital outlays to purchase capital assets are reported as expenditures in the governmental
  funds.  However, in the Statement of Activities - District-Wide, the cost of these assets is
  allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation.  This is the amount by which
 capital outlay, $1,540,626, exceeded depreciation, $811,202, during the current fiscal year. 729,424             

Some property taxes will not be collected until several months after the District's fiscal year
  end, and therefore will not be available to pay liabilities of the current period.  Accordingly,
  they are offset in the governmental funds with deferred inflows of resources. They are however,
  recorded as revenue in the Statement of Activities - District-Wide.  The increase in deferred
  property taxes on the Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds during 2018 is an adjustment. 12,013               

In the Statement of Activities - District-Wide, certain operating expenses (e.g., compensated
  absences) are measured by the amount earned during the year.  In the governmental funds,
  however, expenditures for these items are measured by the amount of financial resources
  used (i.e., the amount actually paid).  In the current year, accrued compensated absences
  paid exceeded accrued compensated earned. 18,326               

In the Statement of Activities - District-Wide, pension (expense) revenue is actuarially
  determined and adjusted by amortization of deferred outflows and deferred inflows of 
  resources.  In the governmental funds, however, pension expenditures are measured by the
  amount of financial resources used (i.e., the amount of contributions actually paid). The
  difference between contributions paid and the changes in the District's proportionate share
  of the net pension liability and the related deferred outflows and deferred inflows of
  resources is an adjustment. (534,367)            

Repayment of capital lease principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the
  repayment reduces noncurrent liabilities in the Statement of Net Position - District-Wide. 242,646             

Changes in net position - District-Wide (757,988)$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements. 15 



Fremont County School District No. 6
Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018

Food
Housing Services Child Care

Fund Fund Fund Totals
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 83,857$    21,058$    2,781$      107,696$  
Receivables -            57             -            57             
Inventories -            6,586        -                6,586        

      Total current assets  83,857      27,701      2,781        114,339    

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets, net 340,298    514           -            340,812    

      Total assets  424,155    28,215      2,781        455,151    

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 2,750        -            -            2,750        
Accrued liabilities -            7,649        2,573        10,222      

               Total liabilities  2,750        7,649        2,573        12,972      

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 340,298    514           -            340,812    
Unrestricted 81,107      20,052      208           101,367    

      Total net position  421,405$  20,566$    208$         442,179$  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements. 16



Fremont County School District No. 6
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position - Proprietary Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Food
Housing Services Child Care

Fund Fund Fund Totals

Operating revenues:
School meal sales -$          67,043$    -$          67,043$    
Child care contributions and fees -            -            2,721        2,721        
Rental fees and other 74,717      -            -            74,717      

    Total operating revenues  74,717      67,043      2,721        144,481    

Operating expenses:
Payroll costs -            166,928    16,245      183,173    
Direct food costs -            114,147    -            114,147    
Supplies 736           431           6,253        7,420        
Utilities 55,841      -            -            55,841      
Repairs and maintenance 22,021      -            -            22,021      
Property taxes 5,124        -            -            5,124        
Other expenses 53,602      -            15             53,617      
Depreciation expense 10,308      257           -            10,565      

    Total operating expenses  147,632    281,763    22,513      451,908    

    Operating loss  (72,915)     (214,720)   (19,792)     (307,427)   

Non-operating revenues:
Federal grants -            127,538    -            127,538    
Interest income 120           21             -            141           

    Total non-operating revenues  120           127,559    -            127,679    

Loss before other sources (uses) of funds  (72,795)     (87,161)     (19,792)     (179,748)   

Other sources (uses) of funds:
Transfers from (to) other funds (20,000)     110,000    20,000      110,000    

Change in net position  (92,795)     22,839      208           (69,748)     

Total net position, beginning of year 514,200    (2,273)       -            511,927    

Total net position, end of year  421,405$  20,566$    208$         442,179$  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements. 17



Fremont County School District No. 6
Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Food
Housing Services Child Care

Fund Fund Fund Totals

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from food service charges -$          66,986$    -$          66,986$    
Cash received from rental and utility fees 70,367      -            -            70,367      
Cash received from contributions and child care fees -            -            2,721        2,721        
Cash paid for employee services -            (174,549)   (13,672)     (188,221)   
Cash paid for direct food costs -            (97,154)     -            (97,154)     
Cash paid for supplies (736)          (431)          (6,253)       (7,420)       
Cash paid for utilities (53,091)     -            -            (53,091)     
Cash paid for repairs and maintenance (22,021)     -            -            (22,021)     
Cash paid for property taxes (5,124)       -            -            (5,124)       
Cash paid for other expenses (53,602)     -            (15)            (53,617)     

    Net cash used by operating activities (64,207)     (205,148)   (17,219)     (286,574)   

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities:
Transfers from other funds (20,000)     110,000    20,000      110,000    
Non-operating grants -            113,021    -            113,021    

    Net cash provided (used) by non-capital financing activities (20,000)     223,021    20,000      223,021    

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest income 120            21              -            141            

    Net cash provided by investing activities 120            21              -            141            

     Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (84,087)     17,894      2,781        (63,412)     

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 167,944    3,164        -            171,108    

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 83,857$    21,058$    2,781$      107,696$  

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash
used by operating activities:

Operating loss (72,915)$   (214,720)$ (19,792)$   (307,427)$ 
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss

to net cash used by operating activities:
Depreciation 10,308      257            -            10,565      
Non-cash commodities received -            14,517      -            14,517      
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Receivables -            (57)            -            (57)            
Inventories -            2,476        -            2,476        
Accounts payable 2,750        -            -            2,750        
Accrued liabilities -            5,750        2,573        8,323        
Due to other funds -            (13,371)     -            (13,371)     
Unearned revenue (4,350)       -            -            (4,350)       

Net cash used by operating activities (64,207)$   (205,148)$ (17,219)$   (286,574)$ 

Non-cash, non-capital financing activities:
During the year, the District received $14,517  in food commodities

from the U.S. Department of Agriculture.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements. 18



Fremont County School District No. 6
Statement of Assets and Liabilities - Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2018

Student
Activity
Funds

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 141,998$      

          Total assets  141,998$      

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Due to student groups 141,998$      

               Total liabilities  141,998$      

The accompanying notes are and integral part of the basic financial statements.  19
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
1. Organization 
 
Fremont County School District No. 6 (“the District”) is governed by an elected seven-member Board of 
Trustees (“the Board”), which has governance responsibilities over activities related to public elementary 
and secondary school education in the eastern portion of Fremont County, Wyoming. The District operates 
Wind River High School, Wind River Learning Academy, Wind River Middle School, Wind River 
Elementary School and Crowheart Elementary School. The District receives funding from local, county, 
state and federal government sources and must comply with the requirements of those funding entities. The 
District is not included in any other governmental reporting entity as defined in Section 2100, Codification 
of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, since board members are elected by the 
public; have decision-making authority; have the power to designate management; have the responsibility 
to significantly influence operations; and have primary accountability for fiscal matters. The District has 
no component units. 
 
The financial statements of the District have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) as applied to local government units. The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing 
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles and standards.  
 
2. District-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements — and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis — for State and Local Governments (GASB No. 34) defines the 
financial reporting requirements and the reporting model for the annual financial reports of state and local 
governments. The financial information required by GASB No. 34 includes: 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
The management’s discussion and analysis introduces the basic financial statements and provides an 
analytical overview of the District’s financial activities in a narrative format. An analysis of the District’s 
overall financial position and results of operations is included to assist users in assessing whether the 
financial position has improved or deteriorated as a result of the year’s activities. 
 
District-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The district-wide financial statements, including the Statement of Net Position – District-Wide and the 
Statement of Activities – District-Wide, report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the 
District. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities of the District. 
Governmental transactions are generally financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other 
nonexchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed in whole or part by fees charged to external 
parties. 
 
In general, the effect of interfund transactions has been eliminated from the district-wide financial 
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are transactions between the District’s governmental and 
business-type activities. Elimination of these transactions would distort the direct costs and program 
revenues reported for the various functions concerned. 
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
2. District-Wide and Fund Financial Statements, Continued 
 
District-Wide Financial Statements, Continued 
 
The Statement of Activities – District-Wide presents a comparison between direct expenses and program 
revenues for each function of the District’s governmental activities and the business-type activities of the 
District. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function. The District 
does not charge indirect expenses to programs or functions. Program revenues include (a) fees, fines, and 
charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and contributions 
that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that 
are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as general revenues. 
 
Depreciation is presented in its entirety in the Statement of Activities – District-Wide. No depreciation has 
been allocated to any of the District’s specific functions. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The fund financial statements provide information on the District’s funds, including its fiduciary funds. 
Separate statements for each fund category – Governmental, Proprietary and Fiduciary – are presented. 
The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and business-type funds, each 
displayed separately. 
 
Budgetary Comparison Schedules 
 
The budgetary comparison schedules are presented as required supplementary information to demonstrate 
whether resources were obtained and used in accordance with the District’s legally adopted budgets            
(see Note 4). The District may revise the original budgets over the course of the year for various reasons. 
Under the reporting model prescribed by GASB No. 34, budgetary information continues to be provided, 
and includes comparisons of the District’s original adopted budgets to the final budgets and actual results. 
 
3. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 
 
The district-wide, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds financial statements are reported using the 
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis, 
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the 
timing of related cash flows. Nonexchange transactions, in which the District gives (or receives) value 
without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include property taxes, grants, entitlements 
and donations. Revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. 
Revenue from grants, entitlements and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility 
requirements stipulated by the provider have been met and satisfied. 
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
3. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation, Continued 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 
measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be measurable when the amount of the transaction 
can be determined, and available when they are collected within the current period or soon enough thereafter 
to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the District considers property tax revenues to be 
available if they are collected within 30 days after the end of the fiscal year. Expenditures are recorded 
when the related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, 
claims, judgments, compensated absences and early retirement liabilities, if any, which are recognized to 
the extent they have matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds. Proceeds from long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as 
other financing sources. 
 
The District reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

General Fund: The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the District and is used to account for all 
financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. Most instructional and support 
service programs of the District are accounted for in the General Fund. The revenue of the fund consists 
primarily of local property taxes and federal and state funds. This is a budgeted fund, and any unassigned 
or unencumbered fund balances are considered as resources available for use; and 
 

Major Maintenance Fund: The Major Maintenance Fund is used to account for funds received from the 
Wyoming School Facilities Commission that are specifically designated for capital projects and major 
maintenance expenditures. This is a budgeted fund, and any unassigned or unencumbered fund balances 
are considered as resources available for use (see Note 15). 
 
The District reports the following proprietary funds: 
 

Housing Fund: The Housing Fund accounts for activities related to the housing units that the District has 
available to rent to employees. Revenue of the fund consists primarily of rental fees and utility fees charged 
to the tenants. This is a budgeted fund, and any unrestricted net position is considered as resources available 
for use; 
 
Food Services Fund: The Food Services Fund is used to account for the District’s breakfast and lunch 
programs, which make sales to students and other individuals. Operating revenues are comprised of user 
charges. Non-operating revenues are comprised of grant revenues, interest income and transfers from other 
funds. This is a budgeted fund, and any unrestricted net position is considered as resources available for 
use; and 
 
Child Care Fund: The Child Care Fund accounts for activities related to the day care of children in the 
District. Revenue of the fund consists primarily of child care fees. This is a budgeted fund, and any 
unrestricted net position is considered as resources available for use. 
 
The District reports the following fiduciary funds: 
 
Student Activity Funds: The Student Activity Funds are agency funds used to account for activities of 
student groups and other types of activities requiring clearing accounts. These funds have no net position; 
assets are equal to liabilities and do not include revenues and expenditures for general operations of the 
District. 
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
4. Budgetary Information 
 
Under Wyoming law, the District’s approved budgets establish maximum legal authorization for 
expenditures during the fiscal year. The District’s original budgets are prepared on the cash basis at the 
functional level, as required by Wyoming Statures for Board of Trustees’ budgetary control. Unused 
appropriations lapse at the end of the year, unless the Board extends existing encumbrances beyond year-
end. 
 
On or before May 15 of each year, the District’s administration submits to the Board a preliminary operating 
budget for each of the budgeted funds for the fiscal year commencing July 1. The operating budgets include 
proposed expenditures detailed at the functional level and the means of financing them. 
 
On the third Wednesday of July, the Board conducts its annual budget hearing and budgets are legally 
adopted through the passage of an appropriation by the Board. 
 
Actual expenditures and operating transfers out may not legally exceed budget appropriations at the 
functional level. The legal level of budgetary control is the functional level at which the Board must approve 
any over-expenditures of appropriations or transfers of appropriated amounts. The functional levels are 
Instruction, Instructional Support, General Support, Non-Instructional Support Services, Facility 
Acquisition and Construction Services and Fund Transfers. 
 
The School Board may amend the budget at any time during the year after holding a budget hearing. The 
administration may transfer between budgetary line items within a function without Board approval. During 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the budget was amended to reflect revised revenue and expense 
estimates. 
 
5. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America 
 
The financial statements of the District have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to local government units. The 
GASB is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial 
reporting principles and standards. The District has adopted and applied all applicable GASB 
pronouncements, including GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting 
Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements.  
 
Significant Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 
In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. The objective of Statement       
No. 84 is to improve guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and 
financial reporting purposes and how those activities should be reported. This Statement establishes criteria 
for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. The focus of the criteria generally is 
on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with 
whom a fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria are included to identify fiduciary component units 
and postemployment benefit arrangements that are fiduciary activities. Statement No. 84 is effective for the 
District beginning in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020. The District is currently evaluating the financial 
statement impact of adopting this statement.  



24 

Fremont County School District No. 6 
Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
5. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 
 
Significant Recent Accounting Pronouncements, Continued 
 
In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. The objective of this Statement is to better meet 
the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for 
leases by governments. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by 
requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as 
operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment 
provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational 
principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is 
required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to 
recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and 
consistency of information about governments’ leasing activities. Statement No. 87 is effective for the 
District beginning in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021. The District is currently evaluating the financial 
statement impact of adopting this statement. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The District considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when 
purchased to be cash equivalents. 
 
Cash with Fiscal Agent  
 
Cash with fiscal agent in the general and other governmental funds represents funds collected and held by 
the Fremont County Treasurer which have not been remitted to the District as of June 30, 2018. 
 
Investments 
 
The District invests in the State of Wyoming WYO-STAR fund (WYO-STAR), and the Wyoming 
Government Investment Fund (WGIF) and a managed portfolio. Deposits in WYO-STAR and the managed 
portfolio are stated at fair market value, which approximates cost, and consist of local certificates of deposit, 
repurchase agreements and U.S. government securities. Deposits in WGIF are stated at amortized cost. 
 
Property Taxes Receivable and Deferred Inflows  
 
The Fremont County Treasurer is responsible for levying and collecting property taxes on behalf of the 
District. Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property on May 11 of each year. Property taxes 
are levied on or about August 1, and are due in two installments. The first installment becomes due on 
September 1, the second installment becomes due on March 1.  
 
Because the District is not a taxing entity, property taxes that are collected on the District’s behalf by the 
County are recorded as receivables. In the governmental fund financial statements, property taxes are 
recorded as revenue in the period for which the taxes are levied, to the extent that they are collected and 
received by the District within 30 days after year-end. Property taxes receivable which are collected 
subsequent to 30 days after year-end are offset in the governmental fund financial statements with deferred 
inflows of resources. In the district-wide financial statements, all property taxes receivable, regardless of 
when they are collected, are recorded as revenue in the period for which the taxes are levied. 
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
5. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 
 
Property Taxes Levied for Other Governments 
 
The District is required by Wyoming Statutes to levy taxes of 25 mills of assessed valuation for all school 
purposes, exclusive of bond interest and redemption. In addition, a County-wide school property tax of six 
mills is levied, as well as 0.75 mill for an associated recreation district tax, as authorized by Wyoming State 
statutes. The mill for the recreation district tax is approved by the District and paid directly to the recreation 
district from the County. The combined tax required to finance general school services other than the 
payment of principal and interest on long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 2018 was 31 mills. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories, which consist primarily of instructional, trasnportation and food supplies, are reported at the 
lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or net realizable value, or if donated, at fair value when received. 
Inventories of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when 
purchased. Donated food commodities are reported in the Food Services Fund as revenue and expense when 
received. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are reported in the district-wide financial statements and the proprietary funds, and are 
reported as expenditures in the governmental fund financial statements. Purchased or constructed capital 
assets are reported at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation. If historical cost is unknown, estimated 
historical cost is used. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of 
donation, less accumulated depreciation. Costs of routine repairs and maintenance that do not improve or 
extend the useful lives of the related assets are not capitalized. The District uses a capitalization threshold 
of $5,000. When capital assets are sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and associated accumulated 
depreciation are removed from the respective accounts, and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recorded in 
the Statement of Activities – District-Wide, or the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund 
Net Position, in the case of proprietary funds. 
 
All reported capital assets except land and construction in progress are depreciated. Depreciation is 
calculated on capital assets using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of those assets, as 
follows: 
   Governmental Business-Type 
   Activities Activities 
 

 Buildings and building improvements 20 to 50 years 20 to 50 years 
 Equipment 5 to 10 years 5 to 10 years 
 Vehicles 5 to 10 years -- 
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5. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 
 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurements and Application, establishes a fair value hierarchy for 
those assets and liabilities measured at fair value, that distinguishes between assumptions based on market 
data (observable inputs) and the District’s own assumptions (unobservable inputs). The hierarchy consists 
of: Level 1 – quoted market prices in active markets for identical instruments; Level 2 – inputs other than 
Level 1 inputs that are observable; and Level 3 – unobservable inputs developed using estimates and 
assumptions determined by the District.  
 
At June 30, 2018, the assets or liabilities of the District that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
are summarized as follows: 
 
   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
  

 WYO-STAR investment $ --  $ 204,985  $ -- 
 First Interstate managed portfolio  1,518,377   --   -- 
 
Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is, the instruments are 
not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis, but are subject to fair value adjustments only in certain 
circumstances (for example, when there is evidence of impairment). The District had no assets or liabilities 
measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis during 2018. 
 
Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations 
 
Liabilities shown on the governmental fund financial statements are those that have become due and 
payable at the end of the fiscal year, which are expected to be paid during the upcoming fiscal year, and are 
reported as an expenditure and fund liability of the governmental fund that will pay it. On the district-wide 
financial statements, liabilities that become due and payable within one year after the financial statement 
date are included in current liabilities, while liabilities that become due and payable after that time are 
shown as noncurrent liabilities. 
 
Compensated Absences 
 
The District reports compensated absences in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 16, 
Accounting for Compensated Absences. Compensated absences consist of accumulated sick and vacation 
leave balances that are unpaid by the financial statement date. No liability is recorded for non-vesting 
accumulated rights to receive sick pay or personal leave pay.  
 
Accumulated sick leave and vacation that has become due and payable at the end of the fiscal year, which 
is expected to be paid during the upcoming fiscal year, is reported as an expenditure and fund liability of 
the governmental fund that will pay it. Accumulated sick leave and vacation that is expected to be utilized 
by employees during the upcoming fiscal year is reported as a current obligation in the district-wide 
financial statements. Accumulated sick leave and vacation leave that is not expected to be utilized by 
employees during the upcoming fiscal year is reported as a noncurrent obligation in the district-wide 
financial statements. Accumulated sick leave and vacation of proprietary funds, if any, is recorded as an 
expense and liability of those funds as the benefits accrue to employees.  
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5. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 
 
Pensions 
 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Wyoming 
Retirement System (“the Plan”) and additions to or deductions from the Plan’s fiduciary net position have 
been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the Plan. For this purpose, benefit payments 
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 

Net Position 
 

Net position represents the difference between assets plus deferred outflows, and liabilities plus deferred 
inflows. Net position is comprised of the various net earnings from operating income, nonoperating 
revenues and expenses, and capital contributions. Net position is classified in the following three 
components:  
 

Net investment in capital assets: This component of net position consists of capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes or other 
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets; 
 

Restricted net position: This component of net position consists of amounts subject to constraints imposed 
by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments or constraints imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation; and 
 

Unrestricted net position: This component of net position consists of amounts that do not meet the 
definition of “net investment in capital assets,” or “restricted.” 
 

Fund Balances 
 

GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Government Fund Type Definitions                      
(GASB No. 54) defines the different types of fund balances that a governmental entity must use for financial 
reporting purposes. GASB No. 54 requires the fund balance amounts to be properly reported within one of 
the following fund balance classifications (see Note 15): 
 

Nonspendable: The portion of fund balance that is not expected to be converted to cash, such as inventories 
and prepaid expenses, if any; 
 

Restricted: The portion of fund balance that can be used only for the specific purposes stipulated by 
constitution, external resource providers, or through enabling legislation;  
 
Committed: The portion of fund balance that can be used only for the specific purposes determined by a 
formal action of the District’s Board of Trustees (the District’s highest level of decision-making authority); 
 
Assigned: The portion of fund balance that is intended to be used by the District for specific purposes, but 
does not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed; and 
 
Unassigned: The residual portion of fund balance for the District’s General Fund and includes all spendable 
amounts not included in the other classifications.  
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5. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 
 
Use of Restricted Resources 
 

When expenditures qualify to be paid out of both restricted and unrestricted resources, it is the policy of 
the District to use restricted resources first. 
 
Fund Balance Spending Policy 
 
The District’s policy is to apply expenditures against nonspendable fund balance, restricted fund balance, 
committed fund balance, assigned fund balance, and unassigned fund balance at the end of the fiscal year. 
First, nonspendable fund balances are determined. Then, restricted fund balances for specific purposes are 
determined (not including nonspendable amounts). Then, any remaining fund balance amounts for 
governmental funds are classified into the most restrictive fund balance to the least restrictive. 
 
It is possible for governmental funds other than the General Fund to have negative unassigned fund balances 
when non-spendable amounts plus restricted amounts exceed the positive fund balance. 
 
Grant Revenue 
 
The District receives financial assistance from governmental agencies in the form of grants, which are 
accounted for in special revenue funds. Revenue is deemed earned and thus recognized when applicable 
program expenditures are recorded. Funds received but not earned at June 30, 2018, if any, are recorded as 
unearned revenue. 
 
Operating and Non-Operating Revenues 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. All revenues and expenses not meeting 
this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates and affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
The District has evaluated subsequent events through November 15, 2018, the date on which these financial 
statements were available to be issued. No material subsequent events have occurred since June 30, 2018 
that required recognition or disclosure in these financial statements. 
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6. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the District’s deposits may not be returned 
to it. Wyoming statute 9-4-820 requires the District to collateralize bank deposits that exceed amounts 
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). In addition, for collateral held by a custodian 
other than the Federal Reserve, an approved Joint Custody Receipt form must be properly executed to 
perfect the District’s interest in collateral pledged by depository financial institutions. The District’s 
business manager monitors cash account balances to see that sufficient collateral is pledged to the District. 
At June 30, 2018, the District’s deposits were insured by the FDIC up to $250,000 at each bank.  
 
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents on the District’s books at June 30, 2018 consists of and 
appears in the financial statements as summarized below: 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents, Statement of Net Position – District-Wide $ 1,172,759 
 Cash and cash equivalents, Statement of Net Position – Fiduciary funds  141,998 
 

 Carrying amount of bank deposits $ 1,314,757 
 
The District’s bank balances at June 30, 2018 totaled $1,622,739 (including deposits held for fiduciary 
funds). The differences between the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents on the District’s books 
and the bank balances consisted of outstanding checks and deposits not processed by the banks as of         
June 30, 2018.  
 
A summary of the total insured and collateralized bank balances at June 30, 2018 is as follows: 
 
 Insured by FDIC  $ 250,000 
 

 Collateralized with security held by pledging institution’s trust department 
  or correspondent bank under a joint custody receipt in the name of the  
  District and the financial institution.    1,372,739 
 

 Total bank balances $ 1,622,739  
 
7. Investments 
 
Investments at June 30, 2017 consist of the following:  
 
 Investment Maturities  Value 
 

 Investments held in managed portfolio account Various $ 1,518,377 
 WYO-STAR Local Government Investment Pool 216 days average  204,985 
 Wyoming Government Investment Fund 31 days average  33,521 
 

 Total investments  $ 1,756,883 
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7. Investments, Continued 
 
Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the 
fair value of an investment. The District does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment 
maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. 
 
Credit Risk: Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to 
the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization. Under investment agreements with WYO-STAR, the District has invested 
monies at a fixed contract rate of interest. Because the security is essentially a written contract, there is no 
rating available for such an investment; however, under Wyoming statutes, underlying providers are 
required to have the highest rating from at least one of the nationally recognized rating organizations. As 
of June 30, 2018, the District’s investment in WGIF had a credit rating of AAAm by Standard and Poor’s 
Rating Services. State law limits investments to obligations of the U.S. Treasury, commercial paper, 
corporate bonds and repurchase agreements. The District has no investment policy that would further limit 
its investment choices. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk: The District places no limit on the amount the District may invest in any one 
issuer. More than five percent of the District’s investments are in the managed portfolio and WYO-STAR. 
These investments are approximately 86.42% and 11.67%, respectively, of the District’s total investments. 
 
WYO-STAR is overseen and managed by the State of Wyoming Treasurer’s Office. WGIF is overseen and 
managed by PFM Asset Management LLC, and the Distribution Agent is George K. Baum & Company. 
Portfolio investments are managed by First Interstate Wealth Management. 
 
8. Receivables 
 
Receivables at June 30, 2018 consist of the following: 
 
 Grants and contracts receivable  $ 62,525 
 Property taxes receivable   16,066 
 Delinquent property taxes   31,513 
 Accounts receivable   58,468 
  

 Total receivables  $ 168,572 
 
Grants and contracts receivable consist of revenues earned by the District from various state or federal 
grants and contracts that had not been received by the District as of June 30, 2018.  
 
Property taxes receivable consist of property taxes received in the first 30 days after June 30, 2018 that 
relate to taxes levied prior to and during the 2018 fiscal year.  
 
Delinquent property taxes receivable consist of property taxes levied for the current and prior fiscal years, 
but not collected as of June 30, 2018, or within 30 days after June 30, 2018. These amounts have been offset 
by a deferred inflow of resources in the governmental fund financial statements. 
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8. Receivables, Continued 
 
During the current and previous fiscal years, some of the District’s taxes were paid under protest to the 
County Treasurer. This means that the property owners are disputing the assessed valuation of their 
property, and therefore the amount of their property tax bill. When taxes are paid under protest, the 
Treasurer must hold that money in a protest account until the protest is resolved with the State Board of 
Equalization. Because the taxes were paid under protest, and the ultimate amount the District will receive 
is still in question, no receivable has been recognized on the financial statements for those taxes. 
 
9. Capital Assets 
 
GASB Statement No. 34 requires the inclusion of capital asset information in the Statement of Net Position 
– District-Wide and depreciation expense in the Statement of Activities – District-Wide. Capital asset 
activity for the year ended June 30, 2018 is as follows: 
 
Governmental activities: 
 

 Balance    Balance 
 June 30,    June 30, 
  2017   Additions   Transfers   Disposals   2018  
 

 Buildings and building 
  improvements $ 24,287,546 $ 1,435,520 $ 299,202 $ (3,788) $ 26,018,480 
 Equipment  1,874,450  25,499  --  (428,190)  1,471,759 
 Vehicles  2,119,778  --  --  (39,901)  2,079,877 
 

 Capital assets in service  28,281,774  1,461,019  299,202  (471,879)  29,570,116 
 Accumulated depreciation  (10,166,830)  (811,202)  --  471,879  (10,506,153) 
 

    18,114,944  649,817  299,202  --  19,063,963 
 Land  109,259  --  --  --  109,259 
 Construction in progress  346,305  79,607  (299,202)  --  126,710 
 

   $ 18,570,508 $ 729,424 $ -- $ -- $ 19,299,932 
 
Depreciation expense for governmental funds has not been allocated to any of the District’s individual 
functions. Rather, the District has included all depreciation related to governmental funds as a single line 
item on the Statement of Activities – District-Wide. Depreciation expense for the combined governmental 
activities was $811,202 for the year ended June 30, 2018.  
 
Business-type activities: 
 
   Food Services Fund: 
 

 Balance    Balance 
 June 30,    June 30, 
  2017   Additions   Transfers   Disposals   2018  
 

 Equipment $ 187,933 $ -- $ -- $ -- $ 187,933 
 Accumulated depreciation  (187,162)  (257)  --  --  (187,419) 
 

   $ 771 $ (257) $ -- $ -- $ 514 
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9. Capital Assets, Continued 
 
Business-type activities, continued: 
 
   Housing Fund: 
 

 Balance    Balance 
 June 30,    June 30, 
  2017   Additions   Transfers   Disposals   2018  
 

 Buildings and building 
  improvements $ 469,759 $ -- $ -- $ -- $ 469,759 
 Accumulated depreciation  (125,497)  (10,308)  --  --  (135,805) 
 

    344,262  (10,308)  --  --  333,954 
 Construction in progress  6,344  --  --  --  6,344 
 

   $ 350,606 $ (10,308) $ -- $ -- $ 340,298 
 
10.  Interfund Receivables and Payables  
 
Interfund receivables and payables arise primarily from one fund holding cash on behalf of another fund in 
order to limit the number of bank accounts held by the District. Interfund receivables and payables may 
also arise from one fund making payments on behalf of another fund to cover expenditures until grant 
revenues are received. When grant or other funds are received, the paying fund is reimbursed for the 
payments made on behalf of the receiving fund.  
 
Interfund receivables and payables at June 30, 2018 are summarized as follows: 
 
 Due To  Due From  Amount  
 

 Special Revenue Fund General Fund $ 1,341 
 General Fund Capital Construction Fund  49,539 
 Major Maintenance Fund Capital Construction Fund  8,921 
  
11. Interfund Transfers 
 
Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2018 are summarized as follows: 
 
 Transfer From Transfer To Reason Amount 
   

 Special Revenue  General Fund Bridges grant closure $  752 
 Housing Fund  Child Care Fund Startup costs  20,000 
 General Fund  Food Services Fund Cover shortfall  110,000 
 General Fund  Major Maintenance Capital construction project  1,004,429 
 
12. Short-Term Borrowings 
 
The District had no short-term borrowings at June 30, 2018, nor were there any short-term borrowings or 
repayments during 2018.  
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13. Long-Term Obligations 
 
As of June 30, 2018, the District’s long-term obligations, other than the net pension liability discussed in 
Note 14, consisted of accrued compensated absences payable and capital lease obligations. 
 
Accrued Compensated Absences 
 
No portion of accrued compensated absences was considered to be due and payable as of June 30, 2018. 
Accordingly, the District has not recorded any amount of accrued compensated absences in the 
governmental funds financial statements. 
 
Capital Lease Obligations  
 
The District leases certain transportation equipment under long-term agreements that represent capital 
leases. Future minimum lease payments under these capital lease obligations are as follows: 
 
 Year Ending June 30,          
 

 2019 $ 173,975 
 2020  103,383 
 2021  21,408 
  

 Total future minimum lease payments  298,766 
 Less amount representing interest  (7,363) 
 

 Present value of net minimum lease payments  291,403 
 Less amount due within one year  (168,996) 
 

 Amount due after one year $ 122,407 
 
Interest expense recorded associated with capital lease obligations totaled $10,129 for the year ended      
June 30, 2018. 
 
A summary of changes in long-term obligations of the District’s governmental activities for the year ended 
June 30, 2018 is as follows: 
 
 Long-Term   Long-Term Due 
 Obligations Long-Term Long-Term Obligations Within 
 June 30, Obligations Obligations June 30, One 
  2017   Incurred   Paid   2018   Year  
 Capital lease obligations $ 534,049 $ -- $ (242,646) $ 291,403 $ 168,996 
 Accrued compensated 
  absences  96,812  46,858  (65,184)  78,486  59,649 
 
   $ 630,861 $ 46,858 $ (307,830) $ 369,889 $ 228,645 
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14. Wyoming Retirement System Defined Benefit Plan 
 
Plan Description 
 
All full-time and permanent part-time employees of the District participate in the State of Wyoming 
Retirement System (“the Plan”), a multi-employer, cost-sharing public employee retirement plan. The Plan 
is a defined benefit plan covering substantially all employees of the State, electing local municipalities, 
and the Public School System of Wyoming. The cost to administer the Plan is financed through the 
contributions and investment earnings of the Plan.  
 
The Plan is governed by a Board of Trustees comprised of the State Treasurer, five trustees who are 
members of the Plan and five “at-large” trustees who are not members of the Plan. With the exception of 
the State Treasurer, Board members are appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the Wyoming Senate. 
The Board employs an executive director to oversee day-to-day operations which includes a staff of 
approximately 40 employees.  
 
Pension Benefits 
 
Through legislation passed during the 2014 legislative session, two tiers of benefits were established for 
participants of the Plan. 
 
Tier 1 participants are those whose participation in the Plan and contributions to the Plan began prior to 
September 1, 2012. Tier 1 participants vest after 48 months of service, with eligibility for full retirement 
benefits upon attaining age 60 and meeting the “rule of 85,” which requires the participant’s age and years 
of service to equal or exceed 85. Early retirement is allowed, provided the employee has completed four 
years of service and attained age 50, but results in a reduction of benefits based on the length of time 
remaining to normal retirement age. Tier 1 benefits are calculated with a 2.125% multiplier rate for the 
first 15 years of service with the remaining service years calculated with a 2.25% rate, using the highest 
average salary for 36 continuous months.  
 
Tier 2 participants are those whose participation in the Plan and contributions to the Plan began on or after 
September 1, 2012. Tier 2 participants vest after 48 months of service, with eligibility for full retirement 
benefits upon attaining age 65 and meeting the “rule of 85,” which requires the participants age and years 
of service to equal or exceed 85. Early retirement is allowed, provided the employee has completed four 
years of service and attained age 55, or 25 or more years of service, but will result in a reduction of benefits 
based on the length of time remaining to age 65. Tier 2 benefits are calculated with a 2.00% multiplier rate 
for all years of service using the highest average salary for 60 continuous months. 
 
The Plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits according to predetermined formulas and 
allows retirees to select one of seven optional methods for receiving benefits, including two joint and 
survivor forms of benefits: a 100% joint and survivor annuity, and a 50% joint and survivor annuity. The 
benefit amounts under these options are determined on an actuarially equivalent basis. Any cost of living 
adjustment provided to retirees must be granted by the State Legislature. In addition, a cost of living 
adjustment (COLA) will not be approved by the legislature unless the plan is 100% funded after the COLA 
is awarded.  
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14. Wyoming Retirement System Defined Benefit Plan, Continued 
 
Pension Benefits, Continued 
 
Employees terminating prior to normal retirement can elect to withdraw all employee contributions plus 
accumulated interest through the date of termination or, if they are vested, they may elect to remain in the 
Plan and be eligible for unreduced retirement benefits at age 60 (Tier 1 employee) or 65 (Tier 2 employee). 
 
Member and Employer Contributions 
 
The Plan statutorily requires 16.62% of the participant’s salary to be contributed to the Plan; the District 
is required to contribute a minimum of 8.37% of the employee’s salary. The District can, however, elect 
to contribute more than the required amount.  
 
The District’s employer contributions required and paid were $376,646, $394,182 and $393,829 for the 
three years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue), and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 
At June 30, 2018, the District reported a liability of $5,865,942 for its proportionate share of the net 
pension liability. It is the opinion of the District’s management that any liability in excess of the required 
contributions would be paid for with general funds. Therefore, the entire liability is included within 
governmental activities. The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2017, and the total 
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
January 1, 2017. The District’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the District’s share of 
contributions to the Plan relative to the total contributions of all participating Plan members, actuarially 
determined. At December 31, 2017, the District’s proportionate allocation was 0.257352600%. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the District recognized pension expense of $1,186,951, including 
employer contributions paid during the Plan year ended December 31, 2017. 
 
At June 30, 2018, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 
  Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
  of Resources of Resources  
 

 Contributions made subsequent to the measurement date $ 189,420 $ -- 
 Net difference between projected and actual earnings 
  on investments and changes of assumptions  1,312,298  -- 
 Differences between expected and actual experience 
  on investments and differences between expected 
  and actual experience  --  1,162,362 
 Change in proportionate share of the net pension liability  666  -- 
 

 Total $ 1,502,384 $ 1,162,362 
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14.  Wyoming Retirement System Defined Benefit Plan, Continued 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue), and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions, Continued 
 
The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from employer 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as pension expense and a reduction 
of the net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2019.  
 
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense (revenue) as follows: 
 
 Year Ending June 30,   
 

   2019     $ 245,814 
   2020      202,039 
   2021      (84,528) 
   2022      (212,723) 
 

        $ 150,602 
 
The average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with pensions 
through the Plan (active and inactive employees) was determined at January 1, 2017, the beginning of the 
measurement period ended December 31, 2017 at 4.1947 years. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
Valuations are based on actuarial assumptions, the benefit formulas, and employee groups. Level 
percentages of payroll normal costs are determined using the Entry Age Normal Cost Method. Under the 
Entry Age Normal Cost Method, the actuarial present value of the projected benefits of each individual 
included in the actuarial valuation is allocated as a level percentage of each year’s earnings of the individual 
between entry age and assumed exit age. The Plan amortizes any unfunded actuarial accrued liability based 
on a level percentage of payroll. The maximum amortization period for the Plan permitted under Wyoming 
Code is 30 years. 
 
The total pension liability in the January 1, 2017 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

 Inflation  3.25% 
 Salary increases  4.25 – 6.00%, including inflation 
 Payroll growth rate  4.25% 
 Investment rate of return  7.75%, net of investment expenses 
 

Mortality rates were based on the RP – 2000 combined mortality table for healthy males or females as 
appropriate with the following post-retirement mortality offsets:  
 

• Males: set back 1 year with a 104% multiplier  
• Females: no setback with a 90% multiplier 

 

  



37 

Fremont County School District No. 6 
Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
14.  Wyoming Retirement System Defined Benefit Plan, Continued 
 
Actuarial Assumptions, Continued 
 
Mortality rates were based on the RP – 2000 combined mortality table for healthy males or females as 
appropriate with the following pre-retirement mortality offsets: 
 

• Males: set back 5 years with a 104% multiplier  
• Females: set back 4 years with a 90% multiplier 

 
The assumed rate of investment return was adopted by the Plan’s trustees after considering input from the 
Plan’s investment consultant and actuary. Additional information about the assumed rate of investment 
return was included in the Plan’s actuarial valuation report as of January 1, 2017. In addition, a five-year 
experience study was completed as of December 31, 2016 that provided a detailed analysis regarding 
recommendations on the long-term rates for inflation and the real rate of return. The assumed rate of 
investment return of 7.00% (real return net of inflation of 4.75%) falls within a reasonable range of the 
long-term rate of return. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using the building-block 
approach and a forward-looking model in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset 
class. These ranges combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected 
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.  
 
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset as of       
January 1, 2017 are summarized in the following table: 
 
  Target Long-Term Expected Real 
 Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return 
 

 Cash  0.00% 0.40% 
 Fixed income  20.00% 1.77% 
 Equity  45.00% 6.88% 
 Marketable alternatives  17.50% 3.30% 
 Private markets  17.50% 7.11%  
 

 Total  100.00% 
 
Discount Rate 
 
Projected benefit payments are required to be discounted to their actuarial present values using a single 
discount rate that reflects 1) a long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments (to the extent 
that the Plan’s fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay benefits using a 100-year analysis) 
and 2) tax-exempt municipal bond rate based on an index of 20-year general obligation bonds with an 
average AA credit rating (which is published by the Federal Reserve) as of the measurement date (to the 
extent that the contributions for use with the long-term expected rate of return are not met). For purposes 
of this valuation, the expected rate of return on pension plan investments is 7.00% and the municipal bond 
rate is 3.31%, which is based on the weekly rate closest to, but not later than, the measurement date of the 
“state and local bonds” rate from the Federal Reserve statistical release (H.15).  
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14.  Wyoming Retirement System Defined Benefit Plan, Continued 
 
Discount Rate, Continued 
 
The projection of cash flows used to determine the rate assumed that plan member contributions and 
employer contributions will be made at the current contribution rate. Based on these assumptions, the 
pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current active and inactive plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability. 
 
Sensitivity of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 
 
The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the 
discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would 
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point 
higher that the current rate: 
 
  1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase 
  (6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%) 
 

 District’s proportionate share of 
  the net pension liability $ 8,865,723 $ 5,865,942 $ 3,364,168 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued 
WRS Plan financial report.  
 
A copy of the Plan’s financial statements may be obtained by contacting the Wyoming Retirement System 
at 6101 Yellowstone Road, Suite 500, Cheyenne, WY 82002 or on the Plan website at 
http://retirement.state.wy.us. 
 
Payables to the Pension Plan 
 
The District reported no amounts owing to the Plan for legally required employer contributions or employee 
contributions which had been withheld from employee wages but not yet remitted to the Plan at                   
June 30, 2018. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
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15. Fund Equity 
 
GASB No. 54 requires the fund balance amounts to be properly reported within one of five categories (see   
Note 5). Specific amounts reported as committed are summarized below: 
 
Committed: The District’s Committed Fund Balance is fund balance reporting required by the District’s 
Board of Trustees, either because of a Board policy or because of motions passed at Board meetings. At 
June 30, 2018, fund balance was reported as committed for grant fund expenditures and expenditures for 
the replacement of capital assets as a result of Board policies or as a result of motions passed at Board 
meetings. 
 
Restrictions of net position reported in the district-wide financial statements are established to either (1) 
satisfy legal covenants that require a portion of the net position be segregated or (2) identify the portion of 
the net position that is not appropriable for future expenditures. Specific restrictions on net position are 
summarized below: 
 
Major Maintenance Projects: The amount is restricted to segregate funds for capital outlay and 
maintenance expenditures which meet the Wyoming School Facilities Department’s definition of major 
maintenance. 
 
Debt Service: The fund balance is restricted to segregate funds for capital outlay expenditures which meet 
the same criteria as the original bond issuance. 
 
 
16. Risk Management 
 
Insurance 
 
The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the District carries commercial insurance. Settlements 
did not exceed coverage during 2018, or any of the past three years. 
 
Litigation  
 
The District is occasionally named as a defendant in lawsuits arising principally in the normal course of 
operations. In the opinion of the District’s administration, the outcome of these lawsuits will not have a 
materially adverse effect on the accompanying district-wide financial statements and, accordingly, no 
provision for loss has been recorded. The District’s management and legal counsel are not aware of any 
significant pending or threatened litigation at June 30, 2018. 
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17. Contingent Liabilities 
 
Grant Programs  
 
The District receives significant financial assistance from federal and state governmental agencies in the 
form of grants, which are governed by various rules and regulations of the grantor agencies. The 
disbursement of funds received under these programs generally requires compliance with terms and 
conditions specified in the grant agreements and is subject to audit by the District’s independent auditors 
and other governmental auditors. Therefore, to the extent that the District has not complied with the terms 
and conditions governing the grants, refunds of any money received may be required, and the collectability 
of any related receivables at June 30, 2018 may be impaired. Based on prior experience, the District’s 
administration believes such amounts, if any, would be immaterial. 
 
School Foundation Program 
 
The District’s funding for the General Fund is determined by the School Foundation Funding Model, which 
was passed into law by the State of Wyoming (“the State”) Legislature. Funding is determined based on a 
variety of data submitted to the State by the District. In 2003, the State Department of Audit began 
conducting audits of the information submitted by Districts to the State at least once every three years. If 
the Department of Audit finds errors in the data submitted by the District, a retroactive funding adjustment 
is made. If the District was over-funded, the District is required to refund the overpayment to the State. 
 
18. Economic Dependency 
 
The District receives a large portion of its funding from the State of Wyoming. Any shortfall in property 
taxes collected by the District is made up by the State. Therefore, the District is economically dependent 
on the State for its continued operations. 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Required Supplementary Information 

  



Fremont County School District No. 6
Budgetary Comparison Schedule for the General Fund
June 30, 2018

Actual
Modified
Accrual Original Final

Original Final Basis to Final to Actual
Revenues:

Property taxes 1,461,471$ 1,461,471$  1,463,013$   -$          1,542$       
Other local sources 137,500      137,500       241,723        -            104,223     
Other county sources 47,818        47,818         64,951           -            17,133       
State sources 6,612,978   6,612,978    6,617,110     -            4,132          
Federal sources 110,000      110,000       236,529        -            126,529     
Interest and investment earnings 4,900          4,900           7,977             -            3,077          

    Total revenues  8,374,667   8,374,667    8,631,303     -            256,636     

Expenditures:
Instruction:

Regular instruction 3,129,495   3,129,495    3,105,573     -            23,922       
Special instruction 1,168,853   1,168,853    1,113,646     -            55,207       
Vocational instruction 197,260      197,260       193,181        -            4,079          

    Total instruction  4,495,608   4,495,608    4,412,400     -            83,208       

Support services:
Student services 678,559      678,559       641,987        -            36,572       
Staff services 346,867      346,867       328,612        -            18,255       
Central administration 471,013      471,013       470,209        -            804             
School administration 561,500      561,500       553,324        -            8,176          
Business administration 278,503      278,503       265,427        -            13,076       
General maintenance 847,190      847,190       835,736        -            11,454       
Transportation services 880,328      880,328       869,786        -            10,542       

      Total support services  4,063,960   4,063,960    3,965,081     -            98,879       

       Total expenditures  8,559,568   8,559,568    8,377,481     -            182,087     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues  
   over (under) expenditures  (184,901)     (184,901)     253,822        -            438,723     

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers to other fund, net (891,021)     (1,114,429)  (1,113,677)    223,408    752             

    Net changes in fund balance  (1,075,922)  (1,299,330)  (859,855)       223,408    439,475     

Total fund balances, beginning of yea 3,147,471   3,147,471    3,147,471     -            -              

Total fund balances, end of year  2,071,549$ 1,848,141$  2,287,616$   223,408$  439,475$   

Budgeted Amounts
Positive/(Negative)

Variances

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditor and Note to Budgetary Comparison Schedules. 41



Fremont County School District No. 6
Budgetary Comparison Schedule for the Major Maintenance Fund
June 30, 2018

Actual
Modified
Accrual Original Final

Original Final Basis to Final to Actual
Revenues:

State sources 362,993$    362,993$    362,993$   -$          -$           
Interest and investment earnings -              -              183            -            183            

    Total revenues  362,993      362,993      363,176     -            183            

Expenditures:
Support services:

General maintenance 492,993      492,993      1,150,568  -            (657,575)    
Capital outlay 1,599,500   1,599,500   608,441     -            991,059     

      Total support services  2,092,493   2,092,493   1,759,009  -            333,484     

       Total expenditures  2,092,493   2,092,493   1,759,009  -            333,484     

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures  (1,729,500)  (1,729,500)  (1,395,833) -            333,667     

Other financing sources:
Transfers to (from) other fund, net 843,979      843,979      1,004,429  -            160,450     
Realized and unrealized gain on investments -              -              584            -            

    Net changes in fund balance  (885,521)     (885,521)     (390,820)    -            494,117     

Total fund balances, beginning of year 705,660      705,660      705,660     -            -             

Total fund balances, end of year  (179,861)$   (179,861)$   314,840$   -$          494,117$   

Positive/(Negative)
Budgeted Amounts

Variances

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditor and Note to Budgetary Comparison Schedules. 42
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Note to Budgetary Comparison Schedules  
June 30, 2018 
 
 
1. Basis of Presentation and Budgetary Compliance 
 
The budgetary comparison schedules have been prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting, 
which is the same basis of accounting used in the governmental funds financial statements. The modified 
accrual basis of accounting and the account groupings reflected in the governmental funds financial 
statements differ from the presentation and account groupings required by Wyoming Statutes for Board of 
Trustees’ budgetary control at the functional level, as described in Note 4 to the Financial Statements. As 
a result, the budgetary comparison schedules at pages 41 and 42 disclose one instance in which actual 
expenditures exceeded budgeted expenditures. In fact, there were no instances in which actual expenditures 
exceeded budgeted expenditures on a cash basis at the functional levels required by Wyoming Statutes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Fremont County School District No. 6
Schedule of Employer's Share of the Net Pension Liability - 

WRS Public Employees Pension Plan
Last 10 Fiscal Years *

Employer's
Employer's Employer's NPL as a Plan Net Position

Proportionate Covered Percentage of as a Percentage
Fiscal Employer's Share of NPL Employee Payroll Covered Payroll of Total Pension
Year Portion of NPL (a) (b) (a/b) Liability

2014 0.244901351% 3,723,481$             4,335,004$             85.89% 81.10%
2015 0.257469241% 4,543,540               4,501,221               100.94% 79.08%
2016 0.255232252% 5,945,249               4,608,854               129.00% 73.40%
2017 0.258825900% 6,257,117               4,756,389               131.55% 73.42%
2018 0.257352600% 5,865,942               4,592,136               127.74% 76.35%

Data reported is measured as of December 31, 2017.

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table. However, until a full 10-year trend is
compiled, the District will present information for those years for which information is available.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditor and Notes to WRS Public Employees Pension Plan Schedules. 44



Fremont County School District No. 6
Schedule of Employer Contributions - WRS Public Employees Pension Plan
Last 10 Fiscal Years * 

Employer's Contributions
Statutorily Actual Contribution Covered as a Percentage
Required Employer Deficiency Employee of Covered

Fiscal Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Employee Payroll
Year (a) (b) (a-b) (c) (b/c)

2014 304,937$                304,937$                -$                       4,282,827$             7.12%
2015 314,430                  314,430                  -                         4,126,382               7.62%
2016 393,829                  393,829                  -                         4,705,239               8.37%
2017 394,182                  394,182                  -                         4,709,460               8.37%
2018 376,646                  376,646                  -                         4,499,954               8.37%

Data reported is measured as of June 30, 2018.

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table. However, until a full 10-year trend is
compiled, the District will present information for those years for which information is available.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditor and Notes to WRS Public Employees Pension Plan Schedules. 45
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Notes to WRS Public Employees Pension Plan Schedules 
June 30, 2018 
 
 
1.  Changes in Benefit Terms  
 
There were no changes in benefit terms during the Plan year ended December 31, 2017. 
 
2.  Changes in Composition of the Population  
 
There were no changes in composition of the population during the Plan year ended December 31, 2017. 
 
3. Changes in Assumptions  
 
The current assumptions used in the actuarial valuation were adopted by the Board effective                     
August 23, 2017 and were first utilized with the January 1, 2018 valuation report. Below is a summary of 
the changes in assumptions: 
 

 Inflation: reduce the current assumption of 3.25% to 2.25%; 
 Real rate of return: increase the current assumption from 4.50% to 4.75%; 
 Nominal rate of return: decrease the nominal investment return assumption from 7.75% to 7.00%; 
 Wage inflation: reduce the wage inflation assumption from 4.25% to 2.50%; 
 Payroll growth: reduce the assumed growth in total payroll from 4.25% to 2.50%; 
 Administrative expenses: recommend reducing the assumed annual increase in expenses from 

6.50% per year to 2.50%; 
 Post-retirement mortality: decrease male set back to zero and multiplier to 100%. Decrease female 

multiplier to 88%; 
 Pre-retirement mortality: decrease male set back to zero and multiplier to 100%. Decrease female 

set back to zero and multiplier to 88%; 
 Disables mortality: decrease male and female set back to zero and multiplier to 100%; 
 Salary increase: decrease the assumed salary increases and to move from age-based merit and 

promotion increases to service-based merit and promotional increases; 
 Retirement (unreduced retirement): modify the retirement rates to reflect actual experience; 
 Early (reduced) retirement: modify the retirement rates to reflect actual experience; 
 Termination (withdrawal): adjust rates to reflect observed experience; 
 Disability: reduce rates to reflect observed experience. 

 
The assumption changes increased the State’s accrued liability by $278 million (a 3% increase). 
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Fremont County School District No. 6
Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018

Total
Special Asset Capital Debt Nonmajor

Revenue Replacement Construction Service Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds

ASSETS

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 131,983$     58,698$       -$             -$             190,681$       
Cash with fiscal agent -               -               -               66,839         66,839           
Grants receivable 1,657           -               60,868         -               62,525           
Due from other funds 1,341           -               -               -               1,341             

        Total assets  134,981$     58,698$       60,868$       66,839$       321,386$       

  LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:
Accounts payable -$             -$             2,408$         -$             2,408$           
Accrued liabilities 11,835         -               -               -               11,835           
Due to other funds -               -               58,460         -               58,460           

        Total liabilities  11,835         -               60,868         -               72,703           

Fund balances:
Restricted for:

Debt service -               -               -               66,839         66,839           
Committed:

Capital asset replacement -               58,698         -               -               58,698           
Grants 123,146       -               -               -               123,146         

        Total fund balances  123,146       58,698         -               66,839         248,683         

 Total liabilities and fund balances  134,981$     58,698$       60,868$       66,839$       321,386$       

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditor. 47



Fremont County School District No. 6
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Total
Special Asset Capital Debt Nonmajor

Revenue Replacement Construction Service Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds

Revenues:
Other local sources 66,500$       -$            -$            -$            66,500$        
State sources 20,000        -              65,653        -              85,653          
Federal sources 433,194       -              -              -              433,194        
Interest and investment earnings 42               66               -              917             1,025            

    Total revenues  519,736       66               65,653        917             586,372        

Expenditures:
Instruction:

Regular instruction 242,847       -              -              -              242,847        
Special instruction 163,718       -              -              -              163,718        

    Total instruction  406,565       -              -              -              406,565        

Support services:
Student services -              -              -              -              -                
Staff services 71,181        -              -              -              71,181          
Capital outlay 859             16,717         65,653        -              83,229          

      Total support services  72,040        16,717         65,653        -              154,410        

       Total expenditures  478,605       16,717         65,653        -              560,975        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues  
  over (under) expenditures  41,131        (16,651)       -              917             25,397          

Other financing uses:
Transfers to other fund, net (752)            -              -              -              (752)              

    Net change in fund balances  40,379        (16,651)       -              917             24,645          

Total fund balances, beginning of year 82,767        75,349         -              65,922        224,038        

Total fund balances, end of year  123,146$     58,698$       -$            66,839$       248,683$       

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditor. 48
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DeCoria & Company PC 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial 

Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

Board of Trustees 
Fremont County School District No. 6 
Pavilion, Wyoming 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Fremont County 
School District No. 6 ("the District"), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District's basic financial statements, and have 
issued our report thereon dated November 15, 2018. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District's internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A sign jficant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies 
in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. However, material 
weaknesses and significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards. 

49 
Ph: 307.885.4272 I Fax: 800.351.5062 I 431 South Washington, Suite 8 I P.O. Box 460 I Afton, WY 83110 



Purpose of this Report 

The sole purpose of this report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control 
or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this 
communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

DeCoria & Company, PC 
Afton, Wyoming 

November 15, 2018 
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Schedule of Findings and Responses 
Year Ended June 30, 2018 
 
 
Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results 
 
Financial Statements 
 
The report of independent auditor expressed an unmodified opinion on the basic financial statements of 
Fremont County School District No. 6.  
 
The audit of the financial statements of Fremont County School District No. 6 disclosed no material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting. 
 
The audit disclosed no compliance findings material to the financial statements of Fremont County School 
District No. 6. 
 
Section II – Financial Statement Findings 
 
This section identifies the significant deficiencies, material weaknesses, and instances of non-compliance 
related to the financial statements that are required to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards. 
 
There were no findings in the year ended June 30, 2018.   
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Fremont County School District No. 6 
Status of Prior Year Findings 
Year Ended June 30, 2018 
 
 
There were no findings in the year ended June 30, 2017. 




